A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. The to- convict instruction for assault in the second degree

Jury Instruction 16) misstated the mens rea of assault and confused the

jury. 

2. The to- convict instruction for assault in the second degree

diluted the State' s burden of proof by misstating the mens rea. 

3. The trial court' s response to the jury' s question regarding the

to- convict (Instruction 16) constituted a comment on the evidence

contrary to Article IV, section 16 of the Washington Constitution. 

4. The deputy prosecutor committed misconduct by improperly

referring to attorney - client communications, by urging the jury to

consider matters not in evidence, and by misstating the law in closing

argument. 

5. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting Andre

Taylor' s statement to police concerning his speculation regarding what

the alleged victim might have been thinking. 

6. Cumulative error denied Mr. Taylor his state and federal

constitutional right to a fair trial. 
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B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. The court' s instructions to the jury must completely and

accurately explain the necessary legal requirements for a conviction, 

and a criminal defendant may only be convicted if the State proves

every element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. A trial court

errs where it gives an instruction that relieves the State of its burden of

proving every essential element of the crime beyond a reasonable

doubt. Where a jury question and special verdict form indicated the

jury was confused and lacked unanimity as to the mens rea required to

convict for assault in the second degree, did the instruction and to- 

convict deprive Mr. Taylor of his right to a fair trial? 

2. Article IV, section 16 of the Washington Constitution

provides, " Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, 

nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law." During a trial, a judge

may not make " any remark that has the potential effect of suggesting

that the jury need not consider an element of an offense." State v. 

Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P. 3d 1076 ( 2006). Here, where the

jury note indicated the jury misunderstood the mens rea required under

the statute, was the trial court' s response to the jury' s question an

improper comment on the evidence under Article IV, section 16? 
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3. The State' s duty to ensure a fair trial precludes a deputy

prosecutor from employing improper argument and tactics during trial. 

Where the deputy prosecutor encouraged the jury to consider opening

statements, rather than evidence, did this constitute misconduct? Did

the prosecutor' s repeated questioning of the accused as to confidential

communications with his counsel, also constitute misconduct? And did

the deputy prosecutor' s misstatement of the law during closing

argument constitute misconduct, requiring reversal? 

4. Under Evidence Rule 403, evidence may only be admitted if

it is relevant to the charges and not unduly prejudicial. Did the

admission of Mr. Taylor' s statement to officers, as to what he imagined

the alleged victim might be thinking, constitute an abuse of discretion, 

where this statement was irrelevant, speculative, highly prejudicial, and

likely to produce an emotional response in the jury? 

5. Under the cumulative error doctrine, even where no single

error standing alone merits reversal, an appellate court may find that the

errors together created an enduring prejudice, denying the defendant a

fair trial. Considering the many errors assigned above, was Mr. 

Taylor' s right to due process violated, requiring reversal and a new

trial? 

3



C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After Andre Taylor finished work for the day as a landscaper on

February 16, 2012, he drove his truck to a friend' s house. 6/ 10/ 13 RP

27 -29. Mr. Taylor left for home at approximately 4 a.m. Id. 

Mr. Taylor' s truck had faulty brakes; in fact, it was impossible

to stop the truck unless the driver pulled the emergency (parking) 

brake. RP 38 -40. Mr. Taylor had not received any citations for the

condition of his vehicle, but he had collisions before when trying to

stop. Id. Expert witnesses at trial testified that the truck had no brake

fluid, and even when driving 15 miles per hour, the vehicle needed 25

feet of stopping- distance in order to come to a full stop. 6/ 6/ 13 RP 81. 

While he was driving home at approximately 4: 30 a.m., Mr. 

Taylor realized that his driving was impaired by drugs and alcohol he

had consumed at his friend' s home after work. 6/ 10/ 13 RP 27 -29, 58- 

60. Mr. Taylor noticed H.H. walking down the side of
72nd

Street in

Tacoma. Id. at 41 -42; 5/ 29/ 13 RP 13 - 15. At first, Mr. Taylor thought

H.H. was a prostitute, but when she repeatedly ignored him and kept

walking, he realized his error. 6/ 10/ 13 RP 46 -47. Mr. Taylor still

thought H.H. was pretty, and he followed her for some time, hoping to
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get her phone number and to perhaps offer her a ride home, or to make

a plan to see her another night. 6/ 10/ 13 RP 46 -47, 56. He admitted he

hoped the encounter would end in their "hooking up later," or in sex. 

Id. at 46 -47, 56. 

After following H.H. for several minutes in his truck, H.H. 

turned a corner and Mr. Taylor lost sight of her for a few moments. 

6/ 10/ 13 RP 48 -52. Suddenly, as Mr. Taylor' s truck turned wide around

the corner, she was immediately in front of his headlights and he hit his

brakes — which do not function with only four to five feet stopping - 

distance. Id. at 49 -51; 5/ 29/ 13 RP 21 -23; 6/ 6/ 13 RP 81 ( truck' s brakes

needed 25 feet stopping distance at 15 miles per hour).' Mr. Taylor

immediately reversed. Id. at 51; 5/ 29/ 13 RP 29 -31. However, H.H. 

had been struck by the truck, resulting in significant injuries, including

several broken bones. 5/ 29/ 13 RP 21 -23, 54. 

Mr. Taylor approached H.H. as she lay on the ground and tried

to help her to a sitting position, saying he was sorry, that it was an

accident, and that he did not mean to hurt her. 5/ 29/ 13 RP 32; 6/ 10/ 13

51. 

Mr. Taylor estimated he was driving 10 miles per hour, at most. 6/ 10/ 13 RP

5



RP 53 -54. She called him names and hit him, so he released her and

she fell back on the ground. 5/ 29/ 13 RP 32; 6/ 10/ 13 RP 53 -54. 

Due to the early hour, there was no vehicular traffic, but when a

pedestrian approached H.H., she asked him for help. 5/ 29/ 13 RP 35 -38. 

Despite the fact that H.H. called Mr. Taylor a " stalker," Mr. Taylor, 

along with the pedestrian, located H.H.' s cell phone, watched as she put

her battery back inside, and waited as the phone " booted up" and she

called 911. 5/ 29/ 13 RP 40 -41; 6/ 10/ 13 RP 58 -60. 2 Mr. Taylor stayed

at the scene while H.H. made the 911 call. He waited and listened

while H.H. described him to the dispatcher, called him a stalker, and

described his truck and his license plate number. 5/ 29/ 13 RP 46 -50. 

He only left once help was on the way, due to his fear of being arrested

for driving while under the influence. 6/ 10/ 13 RP 58 -60.
3

Several days later, Mr. Taylor was arrested and charged with

assault in the first degree and attempted kidnapping in the second degree, 

both as committed with sexual motivation. CP 1 - 5. After his arrest, 

detectives interviewed Mr. Taylor and asked him what he thought H.H. 

H. H.' s cell phone battery had fallen out with the impact of the collision. 
5/ 29/ 13 RP 38. 

3 Mr. Taylor also testified that he left the scene because he knew he had an

outstanding warrant for his arrest. 6/ 11/ 13 RP 45. 
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was likely thinking he was going to do to her that night. 6/ 3/ 13 RP 43- 

44. Mr. Taylor suggested, " kill, rape." Id. 

Before trial, Mr. Taylor moved in limine to exclude reference to

his statement to detectives, regarding what the alleged victim might

have been thinking of his motives the night of the accident. CP 156 -95; 

9/ 20/ 12 RP 63 -66. The trial court ruled the statement, " kill, rape" 

admissible. CP 239 -43; 9/ 24/ 12 RP 3 - 8. 

Following a jury trial, Mr. Taylor was convicted of the lesser

included charge of assault in the second degree with sexual motivation, 

and attempted kidnapping in the second degree, also with sexual

motivation. CP 473 -82. 

D. ARGUMENT

1. A TO- CONVICT MISSTATING THE MENSREA OF

THE SECOND ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF

ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE WAS

EXACERBATED BY THE COURT' S FAILURE TO

CLARIFY THE JURY' S CONFUSION, DENYING

ANDRE TAYLOR A FAIR TRIAL AND

CONSTITUTING A COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE. 

a. The court' s instructions to the jury must completely

and accurately explain the necessary legal requirements for a

conviction. A criminal defendant has the right to a jury trial and may

only be convicted if the government proves every element of the crime

7



beyond a reasonable doubt. Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 300- 

01, 124. S. Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 ( 2004); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 

530 U.S. 466, 476 -77, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 ( 2000); State v. 

Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220 -21, 616 P. 2d 628 ( 1980). The constitutional

rights to due process and a jury trial " indisputably entitle a criminal

defendant to ` a jury determination that he is guilty of every element of

the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. "' Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 476 -77; 

U.S. Const. amends. 6 & 14. 

The court' s instructions to the jury are the critical vehicle for

conveying the elements of a crime to the jury and they must be

accurate. State v. Williams, 136 Wn. App. 486, 493, 150 P. 3d 111

2007). "[ A] trial court errs by failing to accurately instruct the jury as

to each element of a charged crime if an instruction relieves the State of

its burden of proving every essential element of the crime beyond a

reasonable doubt." Id. Confusing jury instructions raise a due process

concern because they may wash away or dilute the presumption of

innocence. State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 315 -16, 165 P. 3d 1241

2007). 
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b. The to- convict instruction for the charge of assault in

the second degree misstated the mens rea for the second alternative

means. The " to convict" instruction must contain all of the elements of

the crime because it serves as the yardstick by which the jury measures

the evidence to determine guilt or innocence. State v. Smith, 131

Wn.2d 258, 263, 930 P. 2d 917 ( 1997). The failure to instruct the jury

as to every element of the crime charged is constitutional error because

it relieves the State of its burden under the due process clause to prove

each element beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Aumick, 126 Wn.2d

422, 429, 894 P.2d 1325 ( 1995); see In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. 

Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed. 2d 368 ( 1970). Jurors must not be required to

supply an element omitted from the to- convict instruction by referring

to other jury instructions. Smith, 131 Wn.2d at 262 -63. " It cannot be

said that a defendant has had a fair trial if the jury must guess at the

meaning of an essential element of a crime or if the jury might assume

that an essential element need not be proved." Id. at 263.
4

4 Because the failure to instruct the jury on every element of the crime charged is
an error of constitutional magnitude, it may be raised for the first time on appeal. State v. 
Mills, 154 Wn.2d 1, 6, 109 P. 3d 415 ( 2005); State v. O' Hara, 167 Wn. 2d 91, 103, 217

P. 3d 756 (2009). 
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Here, Jury Instruction 16, which was proposed by the

prosecution, stated: 

To convict the defendant of the crime of assault in the second

degree, each of the following two elements of the crime must be
proved beyond a reasonable doubt: 

1) That on or about the
17th

day ofFebruary, 2012, the
defendant: 

a. Intentionally assaulted H.H. and thereby recklessly
inflicted substantial bodily harm; or

b. Assaulted H.H. with a deadly weapon. 

CP 450 ( Instruction 16). 

Although this instruction was taken from the Washington

Pattern Jury Instructions ( WPIC), the instructions incorrectly suggested

that the first alternative mean — substantial bodily harm — requires the

mens rea of intent, while the second alternative mean — assault with a

deadly weapon — requires no mens rea whatsoever. See CP 449, 450; 

WPIC 35. 10, WPIC 35. 12. 

The jury was evidently confused by the instructions, as indicated

by the question they sent out during deliberations. CP 470; 6/ 13/ 13 RP

2 -4. The jury' s question read: 

In Instruction 16, does the fact that la states

intentionally assaulted" and lb only states " assaulted" 
imply that satisfying lb does not require " intent "? 

10



CP 470 ( Jury Question). 

The question indicated that the jury did not understand that

regardless of which alternative means the jury found, assault in the

second degree requires the mens rea of intent. 5 Mr. Taylor thus argued

that the trial court should answer the jury' s question by referring the

jury— not only to their instructions in general — but to Instruction 9, 

which defined assault to include intent. 6/ 13/ 13 RP 3. The court

denied Mr. Taylor' s request and only instructed the jury to " please refer

to your jury instructions," over Mr. Taylor' s objection. CP 471; 

6/ 13/ 13 RP 3 -4. 

Because the assault in the second degree jury instruction failed

to accurately instruct the jury as to the element of intent, it relieved the

State of its burden of proving every essential element of the crime

beyond a reasonable doubt. The court' s clear implication to the jury

that they should supply an element omitted from the to- convict

instruction by referring to other jury instructions lowered the State' s

e The Legislature sets forth the elements of an offense. State v. Roswell, 165
Wn. 2d 186, 192, 196 P. 3d 705 ( 2008). Specific intent either to create apprehension of

bodily harm or to cause bodily harm is an essential element of assault in the second
degree. State v. Byrd, 125 Wn.2d 707, 713, 887 P.2d 396 ( 1994). 
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burden of proof and violated due process. See Smith, 131 Wn.2d at

262 -63; Aumick, 126 Wn.2d at 429; see Winship, 397 U.S. at 358. 

c. The court commented on the evidence by failing to

properly instruct the jury, following the jury question. Article IV, 

section 16 of the Washington Constitution provides, " Judges shall not

charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but

shall declare the law." Since a comment on the evidence violates a

fundamental constitutional prohibition, a criminal defendant may raise

this issue on appeal even if not objected to below. State v. Levy, 156

Wn.2d 709, 719 -20, 132 P. 3d 1076 ( 2006). 

An instruction improperly comments on the evidence if it

resolves a disputed issue of fact that should have been left to the jury. 

State v. Becker, 132 Wn.2d 54, 64 -65, 935 P. 2d 1321 ( 1997). Article

IV, section 16 prohibits a judge from " instructing a jury that matters of

fact have been established as a matter of law." Levy, 156 Wn.2d at

721. "[ A]ny remark that has the potential effect of suggesting that the

12



jury need not consider an element of an offense could qualify as judicial

comment." Id.6

As both sides agreed, the central question in this case was

whether Mr. Taylor intended to run down H.H. with his truck that

night, or whether, while he was following her in a clumsy attempt to get

her phone number, his faulty brakes gave out and he accidentally hit

her. 6/ 12/ 13 RP 41 -42, 93. Because the to- convict misstated the mens

rea required for the two alternative means charged for assault in the

second degree — substantial bodily harm or assault with a deadly

weapon — the burden of proof was impermissibly lowered. 

Furthermore, the additional instruction from the trial court, directing

the jury to simply refer to their instructions, had the " potential effect of

suggesting," as the Supreme Court held in Levy, that the jury need not

find the element of intent to convict of the second alternative means of

assault in the second degree. 156 Wn.2d at 721. 

d. These errors require reversal. Whenever a judge

comments on the evidence, it is presumed prejudicial. Levy, 156

Wn.2d at 725. " A judicial comment is presumed prejudicial and is only

6 The prosecutor compounded the error by confusing the degrees of assault and
the mental states required, thereby diluting the State' s burden of proof. 6/ 12/ 13 RP 93- 
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not prejudicial if the record affirmatively shows no prejudice could

have resulted." Id. at 725 ( emphasis added). Here, the prejudice to Mr. 

Taylor is shown by the jury question, which indicates the jury believed

that to convict Mr. Taylor of the second alternative means ( deadly

weapon), intent need not be proved. CP 470. In addition, the jury

completed a special verdict form, indicating they were unable to reach a

unanimous verdict as to the alternative means. CP 476. Thus, the

record here fails to affirmatively show that no prejudice could have

resulted from the trial court' s comment on the evidence, when the

court' s further instructions implied to the jury that assault with a deadly

weapon required no mens rea. See Levy, 156 Wn.2d at 725. 

2. MR. TAYLOR' S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WAS
VIOLATED BY PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT. 

a. Mr. Taylor has a right to due process. The due

process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the right of every

criminal defendant to a fair trial before an impartial jury. U.S. Const. 

amends. V, XIV; Const. art. 1 §§ 3, 21, 22. The right to a fair trial

includes the presumption of innocence. Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 

501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 ( 1976); State v. Crediford, 

94; see infra, Section 11. 
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130 Wn.2d 747, 759, 927 P.2d P.2d 1129 ( 1996). The Fourteenth

Amendment also " protects the accused against conviction except upon

proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute

the crime with which he is charged." In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 

90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 ( 1970). 

The requirement that the government prove a criminal charge

beyond a reasonable doubt — along with the right to a jury trial — has

consistently played an important role in protecting the integrity of the

American criminal justice system. Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 

296, 301 -02, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 ( 2000); Apprendi v. 

New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 476 -77, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435

2000). 

b. Prosecutors have special duties which limit their

advocacy. A prosecutor' s improper argument may deny a defendant his

right to a fair trial, as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and by

article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. State v. Monday, 

171 Wn.2d 667, 676 -77, 297 P. 3d 551 ( 2011). A prosecutor, as a

quasi - judicial officer, has a duty to act impartially and to seek a verdict

free from prejudice and based upon reason. State v. Echevarria, 71 Wn. 

App. 595, 598, 860 P. 2d 420 ( 1993) ( citing State v. Kroll, 87 Wn.2d

15



829, 835, 558 P.2d 173 ( 1976)). In State v. Huson, the Supreme Court

noted the importance of impartiality on the part of the prosecution: 

The prosecutor] represents the state, and in the interest of

justice must act impartially. His trial behavior must be worthy
of the office, for his misconduct may deprive the defendant of a
fair trial. Only a fair trial is a constitutional trial ... We do not

condemn vigor, only its misuse ... 

73 Wn.2d 660, 663, 440 P. 2d 192 ( 1968), cert. denied, 393 U.S. 1096

1969) ( citation omitted); see also State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 147, 

684 P.2d 699 ( 1984). 

To determine whether prosecutorial comments constitute

misconduct, the reviewing court must decide first whether such

comments were improper, and if so, whether a " substantial likelihood" 

exists that the comments affected the jury." Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 145. 

The burden is on the defendant to show that the prosecutorial comments

rose to the level of misconduct requiring a new trial. State v. Sith, 71

Wn. App. 14, 19, 856 P. 2d 415 ( 1993). 

c. The prosecutor engaged in misconduct, diluting the

burden of proof and denying Mr. Taylor his right to a fair trial. First, 

while conducting cross - examination ofMr. Taylor, the deputy

prosecutor asked Mr. Taylor questions about his defense attorney' s

opening statement. 6/ 11/ 13 RP 22 -23. After the trial court cleared the

16



courtroom, the defense objected, arguing that the jury has been

instructed that opening statements are not, in fact, evidence, and should

be disregarded. 6/ 11/ 13 RP 22 -23.' After the court sustained the

objection, the deputy prosecutor moved on with his cross - examination. 

The deputy prosecutor returned to his focus on Mr. Taylor' s presence at

trial, and where his attorney got her information. Id. at 24. " Mr. 

Taylor, you spoke to your attorney about whether or not you wanted to

have sex - -" Id. This objection, based upon attorney - client privilege, 

was sustained as well. Id. 

Later during rebuttal argument, as discussed above, the deputy

prosecutor misstated the law in closing argument. 6/ 12/ 13 RP 93 -94. 

The prosecutor' s rebuttal argument compounded the confusing

and misleading effect of the to- convict on assault in the second degree. 

On rebuttal, the prosecutor confused the degrees of assault and the

mental states required, arguing as follows: 

Defense counsel] suggested that I said Assault in the

Second Degree did not require intent. That was her

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