NO. 45198-1-II

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

ANDRE JONES TAYLOR, APPELLANT

---

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable Linda Lee

No. 12-1-00700-6

---

---

**Brief of Respondent**

---

---

MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney

By  
Thomas C. Roberts  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

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

On the other hand, if, after weighing all the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to either element (1) or (2), then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

CP 450. The Legislature has the power to define the elements of a crime when it enacts a criminal statute. *See, State v. Williams*, 162 Wn.2d 177, 183, 170 P.3d 30 (2007). The Legislature did not include a mental state for assault in the second degree with a deadly weapon, under RCW 9A.36.021(c). However, in an assault case, case law requires the State to prove the common law element of intent. *State v. Allen*, 116 Wn. App. 454, 463–464, 66 P.3d 653 (2003).

The court instructed the jury:

An assault is an *intentional* touching or striking of another person, that is harmful or offensive. A touching or striking is offensive if the touching or striking would offend an ordinary person who is not unduly sensitive.

Instruction 9 (emphasis added). CP 443. Instruction 16, combined with Instruction 9, provided all elements of the charged crime. The jury is presumed to read the court's instructions as a whole, in light of all other instructions. *State v. Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d 863, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998).

Here, the defendant did not and does not challenge the language of the assault with a deadly weapon alternative of assault in the second degree, as determined by the Legislature in RCW 9A.36.021(c). The defendant did not and does not challenge the instruction that an assault is an intentional act. The jury was correctly instructed according to statute and case law.

c. The trial court's answer to the jury's question was not erroneous.

A trial court has discretion whether to give further instructions to a jury after it has begun deliberations. *State v. Sublett*, 156 Wn. App. 160, 231 P.3d 231 (2010), *aff'd* 176 Wn. 2d 58 (2012); *see, also*, CrR 6.15(f)(1). If the court decides to answer the jury question, the response is

reviewed *de novo* as any other jury instruction. *See, e.g., State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006).

Here, the court had properly instructed the jury, including the elements in Instruction 16 and a general definition of assault, which included intent, in Instruction 9. Because both of these instructions correctly state the law, the court committed no legal error. Having properly instructed the jury, including that they must consider the instructions as a whole (CP 435), the trial court decided to avoid placing undue emphasis on one instruction. 14 RP 4. This was not an abuse of discretion.

2. THE PROSECUTING ATTORNEY DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING ARGUMENT.

To establish prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant must show both improper conduct and resulting prejudice. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). If a defendant objects to improper conduct at trial, he must show that the State's misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict. *State v. Embry*, 171 Wn. App. 714, 749, 287 P.3d 648 (2012).

a. Cross-examination of the defendant.

The defendant asserts that the prosecuting attorney engaged in misconduct during cross-examination of the defendant. App. Br. At 16.

During cross-examination of the defendant, the prosecuting attorney pointed out that the defendant had changed his account of the incident from his statement to police and his cellmates to trial. 11 (morning) RP 19. The prosecutor asked the defendant about defense counsel's opening statement. *Id.*, at 22. Defense counsel objected. *Id.*, at 22, 23. The court sustained the objection. *Id.*, at 24. Soon thereafter, the prosecutor asked the defendant if the defendant had discussed a subject with his attorney. *Id.* The court again sustained the defense objection. *Id.*

On appeal, the defendant fails to demonstrate how this exchange is improper, let alone misconduct. He cites no authority for how a sustained objection to a question where there was no answer was improper and prejudicial. When the objections were sustained, that was the end of the matter, unless counsel moved to strike and have the jury admonished.

b. Rebuttal argument.

Where a defendant fails to object at trial to alleged improper argument, the defendant waives a prosecutorial misconduct claim for appeal, unless the misconduct is so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760–761; *State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). An appellate court reviews a prosecutor's comments during closing argument in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the jury instructions. *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d 551 (2011).



A defendant establishes sufficient prejudice to require reversal only by showing a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the verdict. *Monday*, at 675 (citing *State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 774, 168 P.3d 359 (2007)). Even otherwise improper remarks do not require reversal, “if they were invited or provoked by defense counsel and are in reply to his or her acts and statements, unless the remarks are not a pertinent reply or are so prejudicial that a curative instruction would be ineffective.” *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

Most instances of improper argument can be cured by an instruction or admonishment to the jury. *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008) is an excellent example. There, the prosecutor argued that the defendant was not entitled to the benefit of the doubt. *Id.*, at 25. Defense counsel objected and the trial court correctly re-instructed and admonished the jury. 165 Wn. 2d at 25. The Supreme Court held that the instruction cured this fundamental misrepresentation. *Id.*, at 28.

Here, the defendant did not object at any time during the State's closing argument. For the first time, on appeal, the defendant contends that the prosecutor misstated the law in rebuttal. App. Br, at 17. The prosecutor argued:

[Defense counsel]suggested that I said Assault in the Second Degree did not require intent. That was her argument, that I, for some reason, said it didn't require intent. Well, I said in my opening statement and I said in my closing statement that that's the sole issue in this case. It applies to every assault. She said that her client clearly

committed Assault 3. That's what she said because he negligently caused injury. Well, if he committed Assault 3, then he certainly committed Assault 2, because in order to commit Assault 2, the only difference is that he has to act recklessly instead of negligently and reckless simply requires, it's Instruction No. 18, that the Defendant knows of and disregards a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur and that this disregards a gross deviation from the conduct that a reasonable person would exercise. So, at a minimum, she is acknowledging that he is guilty of Assault 2, right? It doesn't change the fact. If he intended to strike her with a vehicle, he is still guilty of Assault in the First Degree, and you don't reach the lesser included offenses.

6/12/2013 RP 93-94.

If the argument was improper, defense counsel could object to it and request that the jury be instructed or admonished. If argument regarding the law or instructions is improper, the logical cure is to ask the court to re-instruct or remind the jury what the correct law of the case is. *See, Warren, supra*. Here, defense counsel could have requested that the court correct any misstatement of the law and refer to the instructions. The defendant does not demonstrate that this was misconduct and, even if so, could not have been cured by instruction. He has waived the issue of prosecutorial misconduct in closing.

Substantively, while the above argument may not be the model of clarity, the prosecutor accurately conveyed that all assaults require intent; correctly referred to and quoted the jury instructions regarding recklessness; and correctly distinguished the difference in mental states between second and third degree assaults. The prosecutor's argument "if

[the defendant] committed Assault 3, then he certainly committed Assault2" may be confusing, but it is not misconduct.

3. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENT.

a. Relevance generally.

Evidence is relevant if it tends to make "the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. Minimal logical relevancy is all that is required. *State v. Bebb*, 44 Wn. App. 803, 814, 723 P.2d 512 (1986). An appellate court grants the trial court the widest discretion and reviews the trial court's relevancy determinations only for manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 835, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). In reviewing for manifest abuse of discretion, the appellate court will affirm the trial court's decision unless no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion. *See, State v. Embry*, 171 Wn. App. 714, 287 P.3d 648 (2012); *Tatham v. Rogers*, 170 Wn. App. 76, 106, 283 P.3d 583 (2012). This is because a trial judge, not an appellate court, is in the best position to evaluate the dynamics of a jury trial and, therefore, the prejudicial effect and relevancy of evidence. *State v. Posey*, 161 Wn.2d 638, 648, 167 P. 3d 560 (2007).

- b. The defendant's statement was relevant to issues before the jury.

Here, the charges of assault and attempted kidnapping included the element of intent. The State had also alleged sexual motivation. Intent and motivation can be proven through a defendant's admission, or through circumstantial evidence. *Mens rea* in the present case, as in many cases, was likely to be proven through circumstantial evidence, especially where the defendant was asserting that the collision was an accident. Any statement indicating his intent, or even agreeing that the circumstances were inculpatory, were probative of his *mens rea* and, therefore, relevant.

During an interview with Detectives Larsen and Bair, the following exchange occurred between Det. Larsen and the defendant:

I then asked Taylor "What do you think she would have said, if asked, about what you were going to do to her. Taylor looked up at me and stated "Stalk. She said stalk to me." I then asked what she thought he was going to do to her. Taylor then stated "Kill, rape." I then asked "Do you think she was scared?" Taylor stated "Yes. If I was in her shoes alone I'd be scared."

CP 50.

The defendant's statement is somewhat similar to the statement made in *State v. Grimes*, 92 Wn. App. 973, 966 P.2d 394 (1998). Grimes was charged with burglary for his role in taking property from a house. The homeowner arrived and confronted Grimes and another man. They

told her that they were moving furniture out. Grimes provided his identification and explained the other three people approached him at a grocery store parking lot and offered him \$20 for the use of his truck to move their furniture.

During the trial, Grimes saw the investigating detective in the hall. Grimes asked the detective if he believed Grimes was guilty. When the detective answered yes, Grimes responded “I can believe that” or “I can live with that.” *Id.*, at 977. The Court of Appeals agreed that statement was relevant because, as the trial court explained, it lent itself to two interpretations: as a confession or as an acknowledgement that the detective was entitled to his own opinion. If a confession, it contradicted Mr. Grimes's protestations of innocence. *Id.*, at 981.

Here, as in *Grimes*, the defendant's statement could be seen more than one way. It could be seen 1) as an admission regarding his intent, by agreement; 2) as acknowledging that the victim's conclusion (or that of any other observer), from the circumstances, regarding the defendant's intent, was reasonable; or 3) that he understood the victim's reaction.

The trial court understood that the statement was the defendant's own words, regarding his own behavior. 9/24/2012 RP 6. It was not the defendant's opinion or speculation regarding another witness' testimony. *Cf. State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn. 2d 577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). It was the defendant commenting upon his own intent, guilt, or innocence. 9/24/2012 RP 8. It was relevant, admissible evidence.

c. Unfair prejudice.

While the evidence and the defendant's statement was prejudicial in the sense that it was offered to persuade the jury to arrive at one conclusion and not another, it was not unfairly prejudicial within the meaning of ER 403. The nature of the evidence was neither unduly inflammatory nor likely to prevent the jury from making a rational decision. Evidence is unfairly prejudicial when it tends to encourage a decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one. *State v. Stackhouse*, 90 Wn. App. 344, 356, 957 P.2d 218, review denied, 136 Wn.2d 1002 (1998).

Two cases further illustrate how a defendant's words may be prejudicial, but not unfairly so. In *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 975 P.2d 967 (1999), a letter written by the defendant was admitted in evidence. The letter included unkind remarks about the victims of this capital murder, including a police officer. *Id.*, at 821. Although prejudicial, it was not unfairly so. *Id.*, at 823. The letter was admissible.

In *State v. Castellanos*, 132 Wn.2d 94, 935 P.2d 1353 (1997), the defendant was recorded selling drugs to a person wearing a "body wire". Although this was powerful evidence and the defendant's own words, it was not unfairly prejudicial in the sense of ER 403. *Castellanos*, 132 Wn. 2d at 100.

Here, the statement and the words used were the defendant's. The characterization and words chosen were not an interjection, observation,

or opinion of a witness, but the party-opponent. His words were probative and admissible.

d. If error, it was harmless.

Where error is from violation of an evidentiary rule rather than a constitutional mandate, the defendant must show prejudice. *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). Error is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred. *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 871, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

The defendant cannot show that, absent this statement, the result of the trial would have been different; i.e., the jury would not find that he acted intentionally, or he would have been acquitted. Circumstantial evidence of his intent included that he followed HH at 4:00 a.m.. 6 RP 30, 32, 42, 10 RP 41, 44. Despite HH ignoring him, he tried to get her attention. 6 RP 29-30. He wanted “companionship” or sex with a woman. 6 RP 43, 10 RP 41, 47. He was frustrated because his girlfriend was withholding sex and he “needed to find a woman”. 6 RP 159. He wanted sex that day. 7 RP 39.

He thought that HH was a prostitute. 11 RP 19. He wanted to have sex with HH. 11 RP 21. He told his cellmates that he thought HH was a prostitute and intended to rape her. 7 RP 109, 8 RP 62, 65.

He struck HH without braking, honking, or other warning. He failed to summon medical aid and fled the scene. *See, State v. McDaniel*,

155 Wn. App. 829, 854, 230 P.3d 245 (2010) (flight is circumstantial evidence of consciousness of guilt.)

The defendant himself testified that he thought HH was a prostitute and that he had picked up prostitutes in that area before. 10 RP 41, 11 RP 19. He admitted that his intent was to offer her a ride home and have sex with her. 10 RP 47, 11 RP 21. He testified that, from HH's perspective, he was stalking her. He, himself, testified that he had told police that, had he been in HH's shoes, he would think that the intent would be to rape and kill her. 10 RP 64.

Even without the "rape and kill" statement, the jury had plenty of evidence to find *mens rea*. The alleged error admitting the one statement is harmless.

4. THERE WAS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR DENYING THE DEFENDANT A FAIR TRIAL.

The doctrine of cumulative error recognizes the reality that sometimes numerous errors, each of which standing alone might have been harmless error, can combine to deny a defendant not only a perfect trial, but also a fair trial. *In re Lord*, 123 Wn.2d 296, 332, 868 P.2d 835 (1994); *State v. Coe*, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 681 P.2d 1281 (1984); *see also State v. Johnson*, 90 Wn. App. 54, 74, 950 P.2d 981, 991 (1998) ("although none of the errors discussed above alone mandate reversal...."). The analysis is intertwined with the harmless error doctrine, in that the type of error will affect the court's weighing those errors. *State v. Russell*,



125 Wn.2d 24, 93-94, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), *cert. denied*, 574 U.S. 1129, 115 S. Ct. 2004, 131 L. Ed. 2d 1005 (1995).